# RECEIVED

07-23-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT III

#### Case No. 2018AP000948-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SEAN N. JONES,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in Eau Claire County Circuit Court, Judge Michael A. Schumacher, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JEFREN E. OLSEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1012235

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8387 olsenj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was the evidence presented at trial sufficient to support the verdict finding Sean Jones guilty of armed robbery as party to the crime?

The circuit court answered "yes." (82:1-2; App. 199-200).

2. Is Jones entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice because the real controversy was not fully tried?

The circuit court answered "no." (82:2-4; App. 200-202).

3. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its sentencing discretion?

The circuit court answered "no." (82:4; App. 202).

4. Is Jones entitled to additional sentence credit under Wis. Stat. § 973.155?

The circuit court answered "no." (82:5; App. 203).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is warranted. The issues presented involve the application of settled law to the facts of this case and can be fully addressed in the parties' briefs.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Sean N. Jones was charged with being party to the crime of armed robbery of a Rodeway Inn in Eau Claire. (5; 13). Jones pleaded not guilty and the case proceeded to trial.<sup>1</sup>

The basic facts adduced at trial showed that around 2:30 a.m. on May 29, 2016, two masked African American men entered the lobby of the Rodeway Inn in Eau Claire. (94:143, 150-51, 177-78, 245; App. 106, 113-14, 140-41). One man—the taller of the two—approached the clerk, S.E., who was seated behind the desk, and told her to sit still or not move. (94:151-52; App. 114-15).<sup>2</sup> The second man—who was shorter—went around the corner of the desk, keeping his back to S.E. (Id.). The shorter man procured a plastic bag and handed it to S.E., who unlocked the cash drawer and began emptying the drawer's contents into the bag. (94:153; App. 116). While S.E. was doing that the taller man said "the deposit drawer, too"; in response S.E. told him she did not have a key for that drawer. (94:154-55, 157; App. 117-18, 120). At that point the shorter man walked backward toward S.E. and started taking items of the cash drawer and placing them in the bag. (94:159-60; App. 122-23).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jones was represented by counsel before and at the start of trial. Counsel moved to withdraw the week before trial, but the court denied that motion. (21:92:2-9). Before the start of the second day of trial, however, Jones asked the court to allow him to represent himself, and after a colloquy the court granted his request. (95:5-19). Counsel remained as standby counsel for the rest of the trial.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  S.E.'s testimony about the robbery is included in the Appendix (104-162). On the second day of trial she was recalled briefly to lay foundation for a document admitted in evidence. (95:195-201). That testimony is not essential to an understanding of the issues raised on appeal, so it is not included in the Appendix.

After the cash drawer was emptied the shorter man walked out from behind the desk and headed to, and then out, the door, still keeping his back to S.E. (94:166-67; App. 129-30). The taller man, who had not moved, remained standing in front of the desk. (94:167; App. 130). As S.E. looked toward the taller man he quickly lifted his shirt to reveal what S.E. believed was the handle of a handgun. (94:167, 187-88; App. 130, 150-51). He told her to stay still and then turned and walked out the door. (*Id.*). S.E.'s description of the event was corroborated by a video taken from the surveillance camera in the lobby of the motel and introduced at trial as Exhibit 14. (41:3:40 to 5:25; 95:22-24, 122-24).<sup>3</sup>

S.E. called police to report the robbery. She told them she believed that one of the men may have been Sean Jones, a person she knew by the nickname "Sneak." (94:168-69, 190; App. 131-32, 153). Police were familiar with Jones, so they began looking for him near places he frequented. About half an hour after the robbery police saw Jones driving; they stopped his car and arrested him. (94:203-07, 217). He was alone in the car. (94:213). A search of Jones and his car found \$286 in cash, but no gun and none of the clothes or masks worn by the two men who robbed the motel. (94:209, 214, 234-35, 255, 260-62; 95:24-28, 29-30, 110). Jones denied he was involved in the robbery. (94:211-13, 271).

Later on the same day Jones was arrested S.E. told police that a co-worker's cell phone charger had been taken from the cash drawer during the robbery. (94:162-66; App. 125-29). She said she coiled the charger and wrapped it with a piece of paper from the Rodeway Inn on which she wrote the name of the co-worker who owned the charger.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> References to video exhibits will be to the minute and second marks—e.g., 41:1:01-2:02.

(94:164; 95:196; App. 127). Jones's estranged wife, Cassandra, who took possession of Jones's car after his arrest, found the note (but not the charger) in the car and eventually turned it over to police. (95:41-44, 128-41, 195-97). A photograph of the interior of Jones's car shows that in the front passenger foot well there is a cell phone charger that appears to match the general description of the charger allegedly taken from the cash drawer. (32).

At a pretrial motion hearing the state indicated that it would be eliciting evidence that the police know Jones from "past professional contacts" and that his nickname is "Sneak." Jones (then represented by counsel) objected. The court ruled the witnesses could refer to Jones's nickname, but could not go into whether Jones has been arrested or convicted previously. (93:36-38; App. 101-03). After S.E. and the prosecutor made multiple references to Jones's nickname early in her testimony Jones renewed his objection; the court overruled it. (94:147-49; App. 110-12).

The jury found Jones guilty of the charge. (96:110). The circuit court sentenced Jones to 13 years, 6 months of imprisonment, consisting of 9 years, 6 months of confinement followed by 4 years of extended supervision. (97:53; App. 182). After the parties indicated they did not agree on whether Jones was entitled to any sentence credit, the court set credit at zero and said it would consider the issue further if Jones submitted authority for his request for credit. (97:55-56; App. 184-85).

Jones filed a motion for postconviction relief. (75). He argued: 1) that the evidence was insufficient to support the guilty verdict; 2) that Jones should be given a new trial in the interest of justice because the real controversy was not tried due to omissions from the jury instructions and the admission

of evidence of Jones's nickname and prior police contacts; 3) that the court erroneously exercised it sentencing discretion and so should modify the sentence; and 4) that Jones was entitled to additional sentence credit. (75:4-19, 23-27).<sup>4</sup> After additional briefing by the parties (76; 79) the circuit court denied the motion in a written decision. (82; App. 199-203). Jones appeals. (84).

Additional facts relevant to each issue are set forth below.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Jones's Conviction Must Be Vacated Because There Was Insufficient Evidence To Support A Finding That He Was Party To The Crime Of Armed Robbery.

A court will not reverse a conviction on the basis of insufficient evidence "unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). Jurors are allowed to "draw logical inferences from the evidence, connecting its dots into a coherent pattern." *State v. Sarnowski*, 2005 WI App 48, ¶12, 280 Wis.2d 243, 694 N.W.2d 498 (citation omitted). A court must accept the reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence by the jury. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506-07. At the same time, however, a jury cannot base its verdict on conjecture and speculation; inferences offered in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Jones also argued the circuit court had the authority to waive the DNA surcharge. (75:19-23). He does not renew that claim in this court, as the argument in support of the claim is now foreclosed by *State v. Cox*, 2018 WI 67, \_\_\_\_ Wis. 2d \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ N.W.2d \_\_\_\_.

support of a verdict are not reasonable and cannot support a verdict unless they are supported by facts in the record. *See State ex rel. Kanieski v. Gagnon*, 54 Wis. 2d 108, 117, 194 N.W.2d 808 (1972).

In this case the record at trial does not provide a reasonable basis to find or infer that Jones actually knew the taller man who briefly displayed the gun to S.E. was armed. Nor does the record provide a reasonable basis to find or infer that, under the circumstances, Jones should have expected the taller man to be armed with a dangerous weapon as part of the robbery. Instead, concluding that Jones knew the taller man was armed, or that he should have expected the taller man would use a weapon, requires conjecture and speculation. Thus, the evidence is insufficient to support the jury's verdict finding Jones guilty of being party to the crime of armed robbery.

As the jury was instructed in this case, there were two ways in which Jones could be convicted as party to the crime of the armed robbery—that is, robbery by use or threat of use of a dangerous weapon. Wis. Stat. § 943.32(2). The first way was to find Jones *directly committed* the offense. The second way was to find he *intentionally aided and abetted* the person who directly committed it. (52:3; 96:47). To intentionally aid and abet the offense of armed robbery, the jury was instructed, "the defendant must know that another person is committing or intends to commit the crime of armed robbery by use or threat of use of a dangerous weapon and [must] have the purpose to assist the commission of that offense." (52:4; 96:48). See also Wis. J.I.-Criminal 400 (2005) and 1480 (2016). The evidence introduced at trial is not sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt either one of these alternative ways of finding Jones was party to the crime of armed robbery in this case.

First, the testimony of S.E., the Rodeway Inn clerk, does not support the conclusion that Jones directly committed the crime by being the person who carried and briefly displayed the weapon. The police immediately focused on Jones as one of the two men involved in the robbery because S.E. told them she believed he was involved. (94:169, 190; App. 132, 153). S.E. knew Jones because he had been in a relationship with Michelle Mayer, a friend of hers who had also worked at the motel. (94:144; App. 107). S.E. had seen a car drive through the motel's parking lot about a half-hour before the robbery and believed it was Jones's car. (94:144-47, 194; App. 107-10, 157). She also suspected the robbers knew someone who was connected with the motel because the taller man, who approached her at the desk, asked for "the deposit drawer, too," which only employees know about. (94:154-58; App. 117-21). Finally, the shorter man who came behind the desk and emptied the drawer kept his back to her and did not speak. The police believed the shorter man acted that way to avoid being recognized by S.E. (94:180, 195; 95:122-23; App. 143, 158). Further, S.E. was sure the taller man was not Jones because of his voice. (94:180; App. 143).

Based on S.E.'s testimony, then, and as the state argued in closing, the shorter man who went behind the counter and collected the property was Jones. (94:186; 96:65-66; App. 149). But it was the other, taller man—not Jones who stood at the desk and lifted his shirt to display the handgun moments before walking out. (94:167, 186; App. 130, 149). As the circuit court acknowledged (82:2; App. 200), because the state made no claim that Jones was armed, he could be convicted of armed robbery only if the evidence proves he intentionally aided and abetted the other man's commission of the crime of armed robbery. To prove Jones intentionally aided and abetted the other man's armed robbery, the evidence must show beyond a reasonable doubt that Jones *knew* the other man was committing or intended to commit the crime of armed robbery *and* that Jones had *the purpose* to assist the commission of that offense. *See Wis. J.I.-Criminal* 400 (2005) and 1480 (2016). The jury was instructed accordingly. (52:4; 96:48). For the following reasons, there is no evidence on which a jury could find or infer that Jones knew the second, taller man was armed and that he had the purpose to assist in the commission of an armed robbery.

As S.E.'s testimony and the motel lobby surveillance video make clear, at no time during the incident did either man pull out a weapon and obviously or overtly display it, nor did either man say anything to S.E. to suggest one of them had a weapon. (41:3:26 to 5:37; 94:188, 197, 199; App. 151, 160, 162). Indeed, as already noted, the shorter man said nothing at all during the incident. (94:153, 195; App. 116, 158).

Further, the two men separated immediately upon entering the lobby, and the shorter man continuously kept his back to S.E. while securing a plastic bag and emptying the cash drawer. (41:3:50 to 5:10; 94:181; 95:123; App. 144). The taller man stood on the other side of the desk, obscured by the desk itself from view of the camera and the shorter man. (41:3:50 to 5:20; 94:153-54, 166-67; App. 116-17, 129-30). S.E. testified that the taller man briefly lifted his shirt to quickly reveal the gun handle only *after* the shorter person had finished collecting items from the cash drawer and was already moving away from her and back around the desk. (94:167, 197-98; App. 130, 160-61). Again, the taller man said nothing about a weapon, even at this point. (94:199; App. 162). And "he didn't keep his shirt up very long .... It was quick, and then it wasn't long before he left the building." 94:187-88; App. 150-51).

The taller man is obscured from view while he is standing in front of the desk (the position he maintained during the entire incident), so the surveillance camera video does not show the taller man lifting his shirt much less show the weapon S.E. testified she saw. However, given the time line in S.E.'s testimony (94:166-67; App. 129-30), the weapon would have been shown after S.E. closed the cash drawer and turned back toward the taller man before sitting down. (41:5:14 to 5:18). The video shows that at the moment the taller man very briefly revealed the weapon, the shorter man had his back both to S.E. and the taller man, for he was walking away from S.E. and around the end of the desk as he headed to the door, which he immediately opened and exited, actions that meant he was turning away from where the taller man was standing. The shorter man's view of the taller man was also blocked by the cabinets on the end of the desk and the hood pulled up over his head. (41:5:10 to 5:20). In fact, S.E. testified that she thought the shorter person was not looking at the taller one "because I think he was exiting from the desk at that time" when the weapon was very briefly displayed. (94:198; App. 161).

While there is sufficient evidence to conclude the two men went to the Rodeway Inn to commit a robbery, based on S.E.'s testimony and the video of the incident there is no basis on which a reasonable jury could find or infer that Jones knew the taller man was armed. A display of the weapon or one man's verbal reference to a weapon could be a basis to find or infer one actor knows the other is armed. But here there was no overt display of a weapon and neither man said anything to S.E. about a weapon. *Cf. Roehl v. State*, 77 Wis. 2d 398, 404-08, 253 N.W.2d 210 (1977) (evidence sufficient to convict defendant for being party to the crime of armed robbery where co-actor openly displayed weapon during robbery); *Frankovis v. State*, 94 Wis. 2d 141, 148-51, 287 N.W.2d 791 (1980), *overruled on other grounds by Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 504 n.5 (evidence sufficient to show defendant was party to the crime of robbery based on his participation in act of restraining victim while his property was taken).

Similarly, evidence of what the two men did or said to each other to plan and prepare to commit the robbery could be a basis to find or infer Jones knew the taller man was armed. But there is no such evidence here. While surveillance cameras from outside the motel show the two men standing near the lobby for some 10 minutes before entering, there is no weapon displayed during that time and no audio or other evidence to indicate what, if any, discussion the two had about the robbery. (42; 95:118-20).

Further, after his arrest Jones made no statement indicating that he knew the second man was armed. (94:211-13, 271). Nor was there a statement from the second man who was never identified or apprehended—that he informed or discussed with Jones that he would be armed. Finally, Jones was stopped and his car searched about half an hour after the robbery. No weapon was found on Jones or recovered from his car. (94:255, 260-62; 95:110).

Yet the circuit court concluded it was reasonable for the jury to infer from the evidence that the men planned and committed an *armed* robbery because they planned and committed *this* robbery; "they appear together in the parking lot before entering the lobby, stand for 10 minutes, enter the lobby, and then separate and take different roles in taking property." (82:2; App. 200). But if these facts tell us the robbery was planned, they do not tell us all the details of the plan, for planning a robbery does not necessitate planning an *armed* robbery. Thus, evidence showing a plan to commit *a robbery* cannot by itself provide a basis to prove the extra elements necessary to prove aiding and abetting an *armed* robbery—namely, that Jones knew the other person had a weapon and that Jones had the purpose to assist an armed robbery. Without some kind of direct evidence from the lead-up to the robbery or the robbery itself—*e.g.*, a display of a weapon, a verbal reference to a weapon, a discussion in advance about using a weapon—concluding or inferring that Jones knew his accomplice was armed is based on nothing but sheer speculation or guesswork that the planning of this robbery included discussions about using a weapon.

It is true that "an aider and abettor may be guilty not only of the particular crime that to his knowledge his confederates intend to commit, but also for different crimes committed that are a natural and probable consequence of the particular act that the defendant knowingly aided or encouraged." State v. Ivy, 119 Wis. 2d 591, 596-97, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984). See also State v. Asfoor, 75 Wis. 2d 411, 430-31, 249 N.W.2d 529 (1977). One crime is the natural or probable consequence of another if it was a result to be expected, not an extraordinary or surprising result. Wis. J.I.-Criminal 406 (2005), at 3. Whether the charged crime is a natural and probable consequence of an intended crime is to be determined based upon all the facts and circumstances in a particular case, not merely on the abstract quality of the offenses. Ivy, 119 Wis. 2d at 600; Wis. J.I.-Criminal 406 at 3.

In *Ivy* the supreme court rejected the idea that armed robbery is *never* a natural and probable consequence of robbery. Instead, it held that because robbery is a violent

crime in that it involves the threat or use of force, there *may* be numerous situations in which it would be reasonable to find that armed robbery is a natural and probable consequence of robbery, *based on the facts of the case*:

For example, if a person intends to rob an armored money truck, it is likely that the person would have to use a weapon during the robbery in order to successfully accomplish the robbery. Similarly, if a person intends to rob a bank or business that is guarded by armed security guards, it is likely that the person would have to use a weapon to successfully effectuate the robbery. If a defendant in either example intended to aid the crime of robbery but actually knew that the person who directly committed the robbery planned to rob an armored money truck, or actually knew that the perpetrator planned to rob a bank guarded by armed security guards, and an armed robbery actually occurred, the defendant conceivably could be liable for the commission of the armed robbery even though he or she did not actually know that the person directly committing the robbery was armed with a dangerous weapon. Under those circumstances, the armed robbery could be considered a natural and probable consequence of robbery and, given the facts the defendant actually knew about the robbery he or she intended to assist, he or she would at least be on notice of the likelihood that the person who directly committed the robbery would be armed with a dangerous weapon and might use that weapon.

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