# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **10-05-2018**

#### COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP948-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SEAN N. JONES,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL A. SCHUMACHER, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. The evidence at trial was sufficient for the jury to find Jones guilty of armed robbery as party to the crime.

#### A. Applicable legal principles.

"A defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence bears a heavy burden to show the evidence could not reasonably have supported a finding of guilt." Beamon, 347 Wis. 2d 559, ¶ 21. An appellate court's review is "very narrow," and the court must "give great deference to the determination of the trier of fact." State v. Hayes, 2004 WI 80, ¶ 57, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203 (quoting State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)). It is the jury's function to decide the credibility of witnesses and reconcile any inconsistencies in the testimony. State v. Toy, 125 Wis. 2d 216, 222, 371 N.W.2d 386 (Ct. App. 1985). If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 507. If multiple inferences can be drawn from the evidence, this court must follow the inference that supports the jury's finding "unless the evidence on which that inference is based is incredible as a matter of law." Id.

The State charged Jones with armed robbery as party to the crime. To prove that Jones was party to the crime, the State was required to prove either that he directly committed the crime, or that he intentionally aided the armed robbery. Wis. JI–Criminal 400 (2005). To prove Jones guilty of armed robbery as party to the crime, the State was required to prove that a person possessed property; that Jones or the person with him took the property, with intent to steal, by threatening the imminent use of force; and that Jones or the other person used or threatened to use a dangerous weapon. Wis. Stat. § 943.32(2); Wis. JI–Criminal 1480 (2016); (R. 96:49–50.) To prove that Jones intentionally aided in the commission of armed robbery, the State was required to prove that he knew that the other person was committing or intended to commit armed robbery, and that he had the purpose to assist in the commission of that offense. Wis. JI–Criminal 400. A defendant is guilty of aiding an armed robbery, even if he or she only intended a robbery, if armed robbery is "a natural and probable consequence" of the robbery. Wis. JI–Criminal 406 (2005.) "If the defendant knew, or if a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have known, that the crime of armed robbery," a jury can find the person guilty of armed robbery. *Id*.

# B. There was sufficient evidence at trial for the jury to find Jones guilty of armed robbery as party to the crime.

The jury found Jones guilty of armed robbery as party to the crime. It therefore found that Jones or the other man with whom he robbed the Rodeway Inn took property from the presence of SE with intent to steal, by threatening the imminent use of force, and with the use or threat of use of a dangerous weapon. Three is no dispute that the evidence at trial was sufficient to prove that Jones and the other man took property from the presence of SE, with intent to steal, by threatening the imminent use of force. The issue on appeal concerns the dangerous weapon. Jones argues that there was no evidence at trial that he knew that the other man had a dangerous weapon and was going to use or threaten to use it, or that he had the purpose of aiding and abetting the other man in committing an armed robbery. (Jones' Br. 5–14.)

Evidence regarding the dangerous weapon—a handgun—was presented in the testimony of SE. She testified

that the taller of the two robbers—who the parties agree was not Jones—showed her a gun that was in his waistband. (R. 94:167.) SE testified that shortly before the two men left the Rodeway Inn, the taller man "stood there still and raised his shirt," and she observed that the man had "the handle of a handgun in his pants or waistline." (R. 94:167.) SE said that the man "kind of watched me for a minute and turned around and walked to the door and turned around and looked at me and he left also." (R. 94:167.)

Jones argues that the surveillance video that shows the armed robbery, along with SE's testimony, is insufficient for the jury to find that he knew that his accomplice was armed and that he intended to aid and abet an armed robbery. (Jones' Br. 9.)

But the jury could reasonably have viewed the surveillance videos and heard SE's testimony and found Jones guilty of armed robbery as party to the crime. The two men appeared on a surveillance video of the parking lot. (R. 41:3:34AM at 0:30.)<sup>2</sup> They walked through the parking lot, toward the door to the motel lobby, for over a minute. (R. 41:3:34AM at 0:30-1:45.) They then stood next to the motel for more than ten minutes. (R. 41:3:34AM at 1:45-13:30.)

A surveillance video of the front desk area shows the two men approaching and entering the motel. (R. 41:4:57AM at 3:35–55.)<sup>3</sup> Jones immediately walked around the desk, while the other man stayed in front of the desk and walked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The surveillance video of the parking lot before the armed robbery is the video dated 5/29/16 at 3:34 a.m. Citations to the surveillance videos are to record number, the time on of the video clip, and the time stamp in minutes and seconds. For instance, (R. 41:3:34AM at 0:30) is to record number 41, the video clip marked as 3:34AM, at the 30 second point.

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  The surveillance video of the front desk area is the video dated 5/29/16 at 4:57 AM.

over to the motel clerk and the cash register. (R. 41:4:57AM at 3:55–4:05.) The roles of the two men seemed clear from the video. Jones found a bag, filled it with money and items from the register, including the phone charger, while the other man dealt with the clerk. (R. 41:4:57AM at 3:55–5:10.) The other man simply stood in front of the clerk, with his hands in his pockets, and directed the clerk to give them money. Then, after Jones took the bag of money from the clerk, the tall man—who was still standing in front of the clerk—showed her the gun in his waistband. (R. 41:4:57AM at 5:14–5:19.) The two men did not talk to each other during the armed robbery. Jones did not talk at all. Their planning was obviously done before they entered the motel.

The circuit court concluded that the jury could have found that Jones knew the other man was armed because the two men stood outside the motel and planned the crime before they entered and committed it. (R. 82:2.) Jones argues that the court erred, because the video shows that the parties planned a robbery, but not necessarily an armed robbery. (Jones' Br. 10.)

But the jury could have inferred that Jones knew that the man he was robbing the motel with was armed. The other man's actions, as shown on the surveillance videos, were consistent with a person who had a handgun in his pocket or waistband. As the surveillance videos show, Jones and the other man walked across the parking lot with their hands in their pockets. They waited near the motel entrance, and the man kept his hands in his pockets. When they entered, Jones opened the door, and the other man followed, still with his hands in his pockets. The other man then walked up to the desk, and the motel clerk, still with his hands in his pockets. The man showed the clerk the gun in his waistband, but it does not appear that he took his hands out of his pockets to do so. After the armed robbery, when the two men left, Jones again led, and opened the door, and the other man used his elbow to keep the door open while he exited. He still did not take his hands out of his pockets. It does not appear that the man took his hands out of his pockets at any time.

It would be odd that two men would plan to rob a motel, and plan that one man, who was unarmed, would simply stand stood around, with his hands in his pockets, while the other man robbed the motel. It makes sense that the other man in this case stood in front of the desk and the clerk, with his hands in his pockets, because he had a gun in his waistband.

It also makes sense that Jones would know why his accomplice was simply standing in front of the desk with his hands in pockets. "[T]he placement of a suspect's hands in his pockets or at his waistband is a legitimate consideration in assessing whether an officer is justified in believing that an individual is armed." *United States v. Williams*, 731 F.3d 678, 698 (7th Cir. 2013) (citing *United States v. Mitchell*, 256 F.3d 734, 736 (7th Cir. 2001). The same is true here. The jury could infer that Jones had to know that his accomplice was armed by his accomplice's actions, or more accurately, lack of actions. Jones was behind the desk, finding a bag, and taking money from the clerk, all the while trying to avoid contact with the clerk so that she could not identify him. His accomplice stood in front of the desk, with his hands in his pockets, because he had the gun.

The jury also could have found from the surveillance video that Jones saw the gun. SE testified that the other man showed her the handle of the gun in his waistband while he and Jones were in the motel lobby. (R. 94:167.) The surveillance video shows that Jones took the bag that the clerk had filled and then walked away from the clerk. (R. 41:4:57AM at 5:11.) He reached the end of the desk four seconds later. (R. 41:4:57AM at 5:15.) During these four seconds, while Jones was walking away from the clerk, the clerk pushed the cash register drawer back into the register, while looking down. She looked up about one second before Jones reached the end of the desk, and two seconds before Jones turned to his left, toward the clerk and the other man. (R. 41:4:57AM at 5:14–17.) The clerk immediately walked away from the man and sat down. (R. 41:4:57AM at 5:18.) Once Jones had cleared the desk, about a second later, he walked directly to the door, and reached it about four seconds later. (R. 41:4:57AM at 5:16–20.) The other man turned toward the clerk, then turned and saw Jones leaving, and he followed. (R. 41:4:57AM at 5:19–20.)

It is not entirely clear from the video exactly when the other man showed SE the gun in his waistband. But the video does not show that Jones could not and did not see the gun when the other man showed it to SE. It seems clear that the other man showed the gun to SE during the nine seconds after Jones took the bag of money. And for approximately five of those seconds, Jones was not behind the desk, facing away from SE and the other man. He was walking toward the door. The jury could have found that during that period, when Jones was walking towards the door, the gun was visible and he saw it.

Jones argues that SE testified that she did not think that Jones could see the gun. (Jones' Br. 9.) But when defense counsel asked SE if Jones would have known that the other man had a gun, she testified "I can't say." (R. 94:198.) When counsel asked if Jones was looking at the other man when the other man pulled up his shirt to show the gun, she testified, "I can't answer that question." (R. 94:198.) SE added, "I would think he would - - he wasn't because I think he was exiting from behind the desk at the time." (R. 94:198.) The clerk then added, "But I - - I don't know what he saw or who saw what, but I can only speak for what I saw." (R. 94:198.)

SE's testimony does not mean that Jones did not see the gun. Instead, SE's testimony, along with the surveillance

videos, were sufficient for the jury to find that Jones did see the gun.

The jury also could properly have found Jones guilty of armed robbery as party to the crime, even if it did not find that he had actual knowledge that the other man had a gun, because it could have concluded that the threat of use of a firearm was a natural and probable consequence of the robbery.

In State v. Ivy, 119 Wis. 2d 591, 600, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984), the Supreme Court of Wisconsin concluded that "depending on the facts and circumstances of a given case, armed robbery could be a natural and probable consequence of robbery." Therefore, a person could be guilty of aiding and abetting an armed robbery "even though he or she did not actually know that the person or persons who directly committed the armed robbery were armed with a dangerous weapon." *Id.* The court noted that "there are myriad factual situations in which it would be reasonable to find that an armed robbery." *Id.* at 600.

As Jones points out, the "myriad factual situations" that the court in *Ivy* mentioned included a person intending to rob an armored car, or a bank, or a business guarded by armed security guards. (Jones' Br. 11–12.)

This was a motel, not a place guarded by armed guards. But this was a motel staffed by a single person, a female, at 2:30 in the morning, next to a bar. And the clerk, like so many citizens in modern times, was a gun owner. (R. 94:187.) It would hardly be surprising for a person who intended to rob the motel to believe—and to fear—that the clerk would be armed, or at least have access to a gun. And Jones seemingly knew the workings of the motel, so he likely knew that the owners were present, and in a room just down the hall. (R. 94:168.) A natural consequence of having a person help rob the motel—by doing little other than standing near the clerk—is that the person will be armed.

As the circuit court concluded, the jury could have inferred that Jones and his accomplice intended and planned an armed robbery. (R. 82:2.) The jury also could have found, based on the surveillance videos and SE's testimony, that Jones saw that his accomplice had the gun and showed it to SE. Finally, the jury could have found Jones guilty because armed robbery is a natural and probable consequence of a robbery of a motel, early in the morning, when the person on duty in the motel may well be armed or have access to a weapon. The circuit court correctly concluded that sufficient evidence supported the jury's finding, and this Court should affirm.

# II. Jones is not entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice.

#### A. Applicable legal principles.

The power of discretionary reversal allows this Court to "reverse the judgment or order appealed from" "if it appears from the record that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried." Wis. Stat. § 752.35. The purpose of discretionary reversal is to allow for review of an otherwise waived error in the interest of justice. *See Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 17–19, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990).

To grant a new trial because the real controversy was not fully tried, "it is unnecessary for an appellate court to first conclude that the outcome would be different on retrial." *Vollmer*, 156 Wis. 2d at 19. Accordingly, the power of discretionary reversal is to be used "sparingly and with great caution." *State v. Watkins*, 2002 WI 101, ¶ 79, 255 Wis. 2d 265, 647 N.W.2d 244 (citing *Graff v. Roop*, 7 Wis. 2d 603, 606, 97 N.W.2d 393 (1959)). The power of discretionary reversal is a "formidable" statutory power. *State v. Wery*, 2007 WI App 169, ¶ 21, 304 Wis. 2d 355, 737 N.W.2d 66. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has charged this Court with exercising that formidable power only in exceptional cases—infrequently, judiciously, and with great caution and reluctance. *Avery*, 345 Wis. 2d 407, ¶ 38.

B. This Court should decline to order a new trial on the ground that the jury was not instructed on robbery as a lesser included offense, or on armed robbery being a natural and probable consequence of robbery.

Jones argues that the real controversy was not fully tried in this case for two reasons. First, because the jury was not given two instructions, Wis. JI–Criminal 406 regarding the natural and probable consequences of robbery, and Wis. JI–Criminal 1479 (2009), robbery, as a lesser included offense. Jones asserts that without those instructions, the jury "was not given the chance to consider fully whether Jones was guilty of aiding and abetting a robbery rather than an *armed* robbery." (Jones' Br. 16.)

The circuit court rejected Jones' arguments, noting that Jones did not request either instruction. (R. 82:3.) The court further noted that the failure to request an instruction waives the right to review. (R. 82:3.) It concluded that Jones either waived the right to argue that the instructions should have been given, or made a strategic decision not to request them. (R. 82:3.)

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